UNIVERSITY OF PAVIA – IUSS SCHOOL FOR ADVANCED STUDIES PAVIA

Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences (DBBS) MSc in Psychology, Neuroscience and Human Sciences



INFLUENCE OF AN INTEROCEPTIVE TRAINING ON DELAY DISCOUNTING OF HYPOTHETICAL MONEY AND FOOD

Supervisors: Dr. Manuela Sellitto

Prof. Gabriella Bottini

Thesis written by Mariam Abashidze

513865

Academic year 2023/2024

Table of Contents

Abstract	5
1. Introduction	7
1.1 Delay Discounting	8
1.1.1 Measurement of Delay Discounting and Methodological Approaches	9
1.1.2 Addiction and Obesity	10
1.2 Interoception	12
1.2.1 Different dimensions of interoception	14
1.3 Interoception and Decision-Making	15
1.3.1 Neural correlates of Delay Discounting and Interoception	16
1.4 Rationale and Hypothesis	19
2. Materials and Methods	22
2.1 Experimental Design	22
2.2 Participants	22
2.3 Procedure	23
2.4 Task Descriptions	26
2.4.1 Interoceptive Training	26
2.4.2 Delay Discounting Tasks	28
2.4.3 Time Estimation tasks	30
2.4.4 Questionnaires	32
3.Results	36
3.1 Baseline Analysis	37
3.2 Main Analysis	37
3.3 Secondary Analysis	41
3.3.1 Delay Discounting Across Different Participant Groups	41
3.3.2 HCT accuracy	41
3.3.3 Delay discounting and interoceptive sensibility	42
3.3.4 HCT and Sound tasks	42
3.3.5 BMI, body shape concerns and body dissatisfaction	43
4. Discussion	45
4.1 Overview of Study Findings	45
4.2 Impact of Interoceptive Training on Decision-Making	46
4.3 Theoretical Foundations of Interoceptive Awareness	47

4.4 Methodological Approaches in Interoceptive Training	48
4.5 Implications	49
4.6 Limitations	51
5. Conclusion	52
References	54

List of Figures

Table 1: Dimensions of human interoception (Adapted from Critchley & Garfinkel,	
2017)	15
Table 2: Participant Distribution and Demographic Information	23
Figure 1: The four food options provided to participants in the initial questionnaire:	
chocolate bar, cookie, cracker, and breadstick	25
Figure 2: The experimental setup for the delay discounting task	30
Figure 3: Duration Task interface	31
Figure 4: Time Task interface	32
Figure 5: The effect of interoception on delay discounting	40

Abstract

This study investigated the impact of an interoceptive training on delay discounting of hypothetical monetary and food rewards. Delay discounting refers to the tendency to prefer immediate, smaller rewards over larger, delayed ones. Previous literature suggests that interoception, i.e. the conscious perception of internal bodily signals. could influence decision-making processes. Thus, this research proposed that an interoceptive training, consisting of a prolonged version of the heartbeat counting task, could influence delay discounting. Specifically, the interoceptive training was hypothesised to enhance awareness of internal physiological signals, thus reducing delay discount rates. To test this hypothesis, N = 51 participants were divided into two groups: an experimental group that performed the interoceptive training and a control group that performed a control task (i.e. focusing on external cues) before completing two delay discounting tasks. One task involved monetary rewards and one task involved food rewards, administered in a counterbalanced order within participants. Results of a repeated-measure analysis of variance indicated a significant interaction between reward type and group. Unlike the control group, which had the typical higher discount rates for food compared to money, the experimental group had discount rates more similar between reward types. Specifically, the experimental group showed reduced discount rates for food. Independent samples t-tests confirmed that there were no significant differences between groups on several relevant measures, including interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, hunger level at the time of testing, and trait impulsivity, ensuring that these variables did not influence the observed differences in

delay discounting. These results suggest that an interoceptive training can potentially moderate the usual high propensity to devalue future edible rewards. These findings underscore the potential of interoception-focused interventions to influence food-related decisions, suggesting that heightened attention to internal states may help mitigate impulsive behaviour.

Keywords: Delay discounting, Food reward, Heartbeat counting task, Impulsivity, Interoception, Interoceptive training, Intertemporal choice, Monetary reward

1. Introduction

Choosing between something we want right now and sacrificing it for our long-term goals is a challenge that we face daily. The outcomes of those decisions can significantly impact our lives, health, success, and even the environment. Despite our aspirations to achieve these long-term objectives, it can often be difficult to forego immediate and accessible gratification.

This is why understanding what can aid us in these decisions is crucial. A growing number of neuroscientific research suggests that interoception, the awareness of internal physiological states, namely how we perceive and integrate them with other information, can influence our ability to make decisions and behaviours as diverse as eating, exercising, spending, and beyond.

This thesis explores the impact of an interoceptive training, specifically through a prolonged heartbeat counting task, on intertemporal choices, i.e. choices between options available at different times. By investigating this relationship, this study aims to contribute to understanding interoceptive processes and their implications for improving decision-making strategies in everyday life.

1.1 Delay Discounting

Often, people prefer getting smaller rewards now over waiting for bigger ones later (i.e. intertemporal choice) because a person's appeal towards a future reward tends to decrease the longer they have to wait for it. This tendency is called *delay discounting* (DD) and can impact a wide range of behaviours, such as health related choices, financial planning, time management etc. This makes it an important area of study both in clinical and healthy populations. Individuals can vary widely in their propensity to discount future rewards. The rate at which people devalue future rewards affects their behaviour and this has been linked to several pathologies such as addiction, substance abuse, obesity, risky behaviours (Rung & Madden, 2018), compulsive gambling, and also ADHD, involving difficulty with self-control and forward planning (Wang et al., 2021).

In 1975, George Ainslie's study laid the groundwork for understanding impulsiveness in decision-making, describing how immediate rewards can overshadow bigger future ones due to hyperbolic discounting of future values.

DD is a complex phenomenon, and different rewards have been shown to be discounted differently. For example, Odum et al. (2020) revealed that monetary rewards are generally discounted less steeply compared to non-monetary rewards such as food or addictive substances, which individuals tend to value more in the present than in the future. This differential discounting is significant because it suggests that the urgency of certain needs or desires can override longer-term gains, indicating that not just addictive

substances but also everyday items like food are subject to rapid devaluation, highlighting the pervasive nature of impulsive decision-making across different life aspects.

Moreover, DD can have both state-like qualities, influenced by immediate situational factors, and trait-like properties, demonstrating consistency over time and situations. For example, pathological gamblers have shown high discount rates in gambling context but not in non-gambling context (Dixon et al., 2006). This means that the subjective value of rewards can change based on the relevance of context and environment. This also underscores the importance of considering contextual factors when researching or addressing impulsive behaviours and designing interventions. There is also evidence that genetic factors can contribute to variations in DD among adolescents (Anokhin et al. 2011) suggesting a genetic basis for some individuals' inclination to choose immediate gratification over long-term rewards.

1.1.1 Measurement of Delay Discounting and Methodological Approaches

When studying how people evaluate immediate and future rewards, researchers utilise the hyperbolic discounting model, which represents well in humans the decline in perceived value of rewards as the wait for them lengthens. This model can be useful across various contexts from financial choices to leisure planning and helps in predicting decisions in different economic and consumer scenarios (Green & Myerson, 2004).

To measure DD, intertemporal choice tasks or questionnaires where individuals choose between smaller immediate rewards and larger delayed ones are employed (Amlung et al., 2017). For instance, one may choose between \$40 today or \$100 in a month. In one of the most typical procedures, these tasks systematically vary the size of the immediate reward and the length of the delay, calculating a point where the participant values immediate and delayed rewards equally (so-called indifference points). These choices help plot a curve that quantifies how steeply a person discounts delayed rewards, using a formula that accounts for the size of the reward and the length of the gratification.

It has been shown that not all rewards are discounted at the same rate, for example smaller delayed rewards are discounted more steeply than larger ones. However, when the rewards are probabilistic, larger rewards are discounted more heavily, revealing that both the size and certainty of rewards significantly influence their perceived value (Estle et al., 2007; Myerson et al., 2003). Alternatives to this model include quantifying the area under the curve based on the indifference points, or calculating the relative proportion of choices for immediate rewards, known as the impulsive choice ratio.

1.1.2 Addiction and Obesity

Research into DD has consistently demonstrated its relevance to understanding impulsivity in addiction. Individuals with addiction discount delayed rewards more steeply compared to healthy controls (MacKillop et al., 2011). This tendency correlates

not only with the development of addictive habits but also with challenges in overcoming these behaviours. This tendency has been observed across various addictive substances, including alcohol and tobacco, as well as in gambling, where immediate rewards are valued more highly than future benefits (Amlung et al., 2017; Odum et al., 2020). Moreover, the meta-analysis by Amlung et al. (2017) highlighted the link between severity of addiction and the propensity to discount delayed rewards. This variability suggests a need for detailed studies to clarify the role of DD across different types of addictions of variable severities (Amlung et al., 2017). Additionally, steep DD was found to be a predictive factor of the initiation of cigarette smoking in adolescents (Audrain-McGovern et al., 2009), as well as relapse after quitting in adults (Yoon et al., 2007, Rung & Madden, 2018).

The tendency to discount delayed rewards steeply also appears to be a significant factor influencing eating behaviours that contribute to obesity. DD has indeed been found to be particularly high in obese individuals (Amlung et al., 2016). Moreover, high DD enhances the consumption of tasty foods in people who are highly responsive to food rewards, especially if they have low inhibitory control (Appelhans et al., 2011).

Obesity and drug addiction share similar traits, for example as excessive consumption and difficulty in regulating impulses. The desire for food rewards is primarily controlled by the mesolimbic dopamine system, the brain's reward circuit, which also drives the urge to participate in activities like sex, gambling, and substance use (Appelhans et al., 2011).

1.2 Interoception

Interoception is the sensing of internal body signals and is essential for maintaining bodily homeostasis and regulating autonomic and cognitive functions. It is a complex construct that has been defined differently across studies, influencing how researchers measure and interpret its role in human cognition and behaviour (Desmedt et al., 2023, Craig, 2009). Interoception was first defined as "sensations from the interior of the body, especially the viscera" (Sherrington, 1906) and was understood as the processing of visceral signals only, typically related to the cardiovascular, respiratory, gastrointestinal, and genito-urinary systems. This early definition primarily distinguished interoception from exteroception and proprioception, which involve external and positional body signals, respectively.

However, recent accounts propose a broader and more inclusive conceptualization. For example, Craig expanded the definition as "sensory input representing the condition of the entire body" (Craig, 2009). This implies that interoception includes the sense, both conscious and not, of any change in the mechanical, thermal, or chemical conditions of the tissues (including the skin), such as cardiovascular, respiratory and gastro-intestinal activity, but also temperature changes, immune and hormonal activity, mechanical stress or damage, local metabolism, skin parasite penetration, hunger, satiety, thirst, fatigue, pain, and itching (Desmedt et al., 2023, Craig, 2002, 2009).

These differences between traditional and contemporary views highlight an evolving understanding that interoception involves not just the detection but also the

interpretation and integration of internal bodily cues (Desmedt et al., 2023). Modern definitions emphasise a multisensory integration process, where interoceptive awareness results from the central nervous system's synthesis of various sensory inputs, including somatic and visceral signals. It represents a detailed, holistic mapping of the body's internal landscape that also impacts our emotional and decision-making processes (Craig, 2002), motivational drives, behavioural responses (Wang & Chang, 2024) and in shaping our self-awareness (Tsakiris & Critchley, 2016). For the above reasons, it has also been defined as the "eighth sensory system" (Schmitt & Schoen, 2022).

Consequently, interoception is linked to mental health, and has significant impact on conditions such as anxiety, depression, and other neuropsychiatric disorders (Tsakiris & Critchley, 2016). The way we react to our environment is heavily influenced by these internal cues as the brain uses these signals to adjust our emotional and cognitive responses, which is essential for making decisions. Thus, it is reasonable to hypothesise that our body's internal feedback might play an important role in our daily interactions and choices (Critchley & Garfinkel, 2015). Moreover, recent studies suggest that improved interoceptive awareness could enhance individuals' sensitivity to a range of internal states, from hunger and satiety to emotional arousal, which seems to be crucial in making decisions about immediate versus delayed rewards (Desmedt et al., 2023).

1.2.1 Different dimensions of interoception

Interoceptive differences can be measured by questionnaires and behavioural tests. The tests either use natural fluctuation of internal physiology or experimentally induced changes (Critchley & Garfinkel, 2017). A common method is the heartbeat detection task, which assesses a person's ability to sense their own heartbeat through counting, tapping, or timing it against external stimuli. Despite some limitations, these methods are broadly used and provide useful data if applied correctly.

The term "interoceptive awareness" is used to imply both the results from questionnaires and how accurately someone performed on tasks (Desmedt et al., 2023). But new approaches differentiate between objective measures like the heartbeat detection task and subjective measures, which include how confident someone feels about their ability to sense their heartbeat or their answers on questionnaires. Moreover, "metacognitive interoceptive awareness" describes how closely a person's perceived ability matches their actual accuracy (Critchley & Garfinkel, 2017). A comprehensive description of the different dimensions of interoception is presented in table 1. As noted by Desmedt et al. (2023), the field still faces challenges due to the variability in how interoception is measured and conceptualised, which can impact the replicability and interpretation of research findings.

Table 1: Dimensions of human interoception (Adapted from Critchley & Garfinkel,2017)

Table 1							
Dimensions of human interoception							
Dimensional level	Nature	Index					
Afferent signal	Neural	Visceral afferent nerve recording Intracranial recording Heartbeat evoked potential Respiratory evoked potential Neuroimaging					
Preconscious impact on other processes	Behavioural, neural	Cardiac modulation of eyeblink startle Cardiac modulation of fear Respiratory modulation of memory					
Accuracy	Objective behavioural performance score	Heartbeat detection tasks Respiratory resistance load detection Water Load task Balloon dilation of stomach/colon					
Sensibility	Subjective self-report	Confidence measures on interoceptive tasks Questionnaires probing interoceptive sensitivity					
Metacognitive	Correspondence between subjective self-report and objective performance accuracy	Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves between task performance and rated confidence Correlational measures of task and confidence scores Trait measures, for example correspondence between task performance and body perception questionnaire score					
Executive	Behavioural	Shifting from interoceptive to exteroceptive attention, for example within dual tasks or between tasks.					

1.3 Interoception and Decision-Making

In their investigation of decision-making within complex situations that involve uncertainty, rewards and penalties Bechara et al., (1997) suggest that individuals often rely on non-conscious biases before employing explicit reasoning strategies. The study found that healthy participants started to make advantageous, strategically beneficial choices in a gambling task before fully recognizing which strategy yielded the best outcome. In stark contrast, patients with prefrontal cortex damage continued to make poor choices even after identifying risky options. This study (Bechara et al., 1997) shows that the implicit emotional cues guide early decision-making processes, potentially before these cues reach conscious awareness. In healthy individuals, nonconscious emotional responses appear to direct early decision choices, hinting at a foundational role for intuitive processes in complex decision environments. Thus, interoceptive awareness might significantly shape our initial, unconscious decision-making steps.

1.3.1 Neural correlates of Delay Discounting and Interoception

Intertemporal choices are regulated by two main key processes: a valuation process that estimates the reward of different options (medial orbitofrontal cortex (mOFC) and ventral striatum) and a control process (dorsolateral prefrontal cortex) to align these valuations with long-term goals (Kable and Glimcher, 2010; Sellitto et al., 2010; Sellitto et al., 2016; Peters & Büchel, 2011).

Another important brain region involved in DD is the insula, which is located deep within the cerebral cortex and is integral to our perception and emotional responses, connecting bodily sensations to cognitive functions. As its role is to make us aware of bodily states and predict how we might physically react to situations, it can direct our decisions based on our immediate bodily needs, thus favouring immediate gratification over long term goals. In fact, individuals with damage to the insula have demonstrated a lower tendency to prefer immediate rewards as compared with control participants (Sellitto et al., 2016). The insula acts as a central hub for processing interoceptive signals. These signals include thermal, nociceptive, metabolic, and visceromotor cues that inform the brain about the body's internal condition. The insula's ability to process and integrate these signals affects our perception, emotion, and even the sense of self (Critchley and Garfinkel, 2015). Such processing underscores the insula's role in translating bodily states into conscious feelings and decision-making criteria that guide our behaviour based on internal needs rather than external stimuli alone.

Intertemporal decision-making involves a complex network of brain regions including the thalamus, sensory, parietal, temporal, cingulate, prefrontal, motor, and insular cortices, along with the basal ganglia (Frost & McNaughton, 2017). These areas create a network that underpins DD through recurrent neural loops (Frost & McNaughton, 2017). The insular cortex, central to this network, processes sensory information from the body to impact cognitive evaluations of both immediate and future rewards. The insula is particularly active during tasks that require high interoceptive awareness like detecting one's heartbeat (Couto et al., 2014). The insula also connects interoceptive signals to cognitive operations, influencing decisions that balance current against future rewards, especially relevant in situations involving DD where the body's internal state can significantly sway choices (Paulus & Stewart, 2014).

fMRI studies of DD reveal that the ventral striatum and prefrontal cortex navigate the balance between immediate rewards and future benefits (Luhmann, 2009). Moreover, the anterior insular cortex, particularly its dorsal part (dAIC) integrates interoceptive

signals. Increased activity in the dAIC correlates with a reduced preference for immediate rewards, this suggests that enhanced activation in this region improves the assessment of the benefits of delayed rewards (Halcomb et al., 2022). This activity is also tied to the default mode network, which facilitates introspective and self-referential thoughts and may play a significant role by linking bodily states with cognitive evaluations of time and reward outcomes (Halcomb et al., 2022). When individuals choose larger, delayed rewards over smaller, immediate ones, the anterior insula shows increased activity. This supports the role of the insula in balancing immediate and long-term benefits, suggesting that variations in its function and structure could affect decision-making behaviours and potentially explain differences in impulsivity across individuals (Churchwell & Yurgelun-Todd, 2013).

Activation in the anterior insular cortex (AIC), particularly during tasks that require focusing on internal signals like breathing, stomach, and heartbeat rhythms, highlights its role in monitoring internal states, essential for decision-making processes dependent on body awareness (Wang et al., 2019). Additionally, damage to the AIC impairs interoceptive discrimination abilities, emphasising its importance in processing internal cues that guide self-regulation and decision-making.

On the other hand, it has been shown that the insular cortex exhibits hyperactivation in response to drug-related cues in individuals with drug addiction while showing hypoactivation during cognitive control tasks (Paulus & Stewart, 2014). When there is heightened activity in the insula, it can lead to more acute bodily awareness, which

might make immediate rewards (drugs or food) seem more tempting, thus counteracting impulse control.

Interoceptive awareness and emotional states influence decision-making, particularly in contexts where impulsivity and risk-taking are involved (Herman et al., 2018b). Specifically, negative emotional states tend to increase impulsivity, while enhanced interoceptive awareness could lead to more advantageous decision-making in situations that involve risk. Consequently, by improving sensitivity to internal states one could potentially improve self-regulation and decision-making. However, while risk-taking behaviours often coincide with impulsivity, this study (Herman et al., 2018a) suggests that these behaviours can manifest differently depending on one's emotional state and level of interoceptive awareness.

1.4 Rationale and Hypothesis

Given the considerable impact of delay discounting on various aspects of personal and public health, ranging from addiction to potentially harmful behaviours like seatbelt use and risky sexual activity (Rung & Madden, 2018), it is important to explore potential interventions that could modify these behaviours.

Several interventions, such as mindfulness and episodic future thinking, were successful in modifying DD behaviours by improving psychological and physiological awareness (Rung & Madden, 2018). For example, mindfulness-based interventions have shown potential in reducing impulsivity by enhancing the present moment awareness (Rung & Madden, 2018). On the other hand, episodic future thinking was

shown to decrease impulsive choices by vividly imagining future consequences of actions, which leads to more consideration for delayed rewards (Lin & Epstein, 2014). As heightened sense of interoception might influence not only perceptual sensitivity but also decision-making processes (Pollatos et al., 2023), an interoceptive training might have the potential to recalibrate the valuation processes underlying steep DD.

Moreover, the neurobiological mechanisms of impulsivity suggest a significant overlap with interoceptive processes. However, despite substantial research, there remains a relatively unexplored area concerning how interoceptive attention specifically impacts DD across different rewards.

There are existing studies that explore the effects of interoceptive training on decision-making, often using biofeedback to improve accuracy and assess outcomes. For example, Sugawara et al. (2020) enhanced interoceptive accuracy through immediate feedback but noted minimal impact on decision-making. In contrast, Rae et al. (2019) focused on how cardiac cues influenced decisions, highlighting the role of heightened interoceptive awareness in driving actions. Similarly, Price and Hooven (2018) emphasised the natural enhancement of bodily awareness through mindfulness practices, aiming to improve emotional regulation and decision-making without relying on feedback mechanisms.

Our study seeks to explore this by examining how interoceptive training by focusing on heartbeat without external feedback will affect delay discounting rate in primary and secondary rewards.

We hypothesise that undergoing the training will foster more balanced decision-making, thereby reducing the inclination to prefer immediate over delayed choices across both types of rewards. The goal is to gain deeper insights into how natural bodily awareness can steer decision-making and possibly recalibrate impulsive behaviours.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Experimental Design

The study implemented a between-subject design (experimental group vs. control group) to investigate the effects of an interoceptive training on decision-making, specifically, DD. Participants were randomly assigned to either the experimental group or the control group. Each group underwent two versions of the DD tasks (within-subject conditions: food and money), administered in a counterbalanced order across subjects.

2.2 Participants

Assuming the use of a repeated-measure ANOVA (two conditions of the decision task and two groups) with an α error probability = 0.05 and a ß power = 0.80, the number of subjects that would have allowed us to achieve an effect size f = 0.50 is 48 subjects. We therefore recruited N = 55 participants to cope with possible drop-outs. The participants were students from the Faculty of Psychology of the University of Pavia and received University Credits for compensation.

Four participants were excluded due to methodological issues, leaving a final sample of 51 participants. Participants were awarded University credits (CFU) for graduation purposes. All participants were naïve as to the purpose of the study. The whole experiment was conducted in Italian for native Italian speakers and in English for non-Italian participants fluent in English. Each session took on average 90 minutes (ranging from 65 to 125 minutes). Table 1 shows the total number of participants included in each group, the number of participants who performed the food condition first, and the number of participants who performed the money condition first. Additionally, it displays demographic information such as the gender distribution, age, Body Mass Index (BMI), and level of education.

 Table 2: Participant Distribution and Demographic Information

Group	Total Number of Participants (F/M)	DD Food First	DD Money First	Age (years)	BMI	Education (years)
Experimental	22/4	N = 13	N = 13	23.73 (2.52)	24.25 (6.05)	15.0 (1.70)
Control	19/6	N = 13	N = 12	23.76 (3.05)	21.61 (2.78)	14.88 (1.62)

Note: For age, BMI, and education, numbers are means (Standard Deviations). DD = Delay Discounting task; F = Females; M = Males; BMI = Body Mass Index.

2.3 Procedure

Informed Consent

Prior to the beginning of the study, the experimenter introduced herself and provided participants with a brief overview of the experiment, including its approximate duration and the use of the pulse oximeter. Participants were encouraged to ask any questions they had about the procedure before proceeding. Participants were then presented with an informed consent form outlining the study procedures and emphasising the confidentiality of their personal information. Participants indicated their voluntary agreement to participate by signing the consent form. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee of the University of Pavia.

Initial Questionnaire

Participants completed a paper-based initial questionnaire. This questionnaire collected details, such as the time in hours since their last food intake and their preferred food choice among four options presented on paper. Food options included two sweet snacks (cookie and chocolate bar) and two salty snacks (cracker and breadstick). The selected food would later be used as stimulus in the food condition of the DD task. Participants also rated their hunger level on a Likert scale ranging from -5 (not hungry at all) to 5 (extremely hungry). The four food options presented to participants are shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1: The four food options provided to participants in the initial questionnaire: chocolate bar, cookie, cracker, and breadstick



Experiment design

The experiment included several tasks administered using OpenSesame software (Mathôt et al., 2012). All participants completed the same tasks, though the sequence varied between the experimental and control groups to control for order effects.

Experimental Group Sequence:

- 1. Heartbeat Counting Task (HCT)
- 2. DD Task (Money and Food conditions, in a counterbalanced order across participants)

- 3. Time Estimation Tasks (Time Task and Duration Task, in a counterbalanced order across participants)
- 4. Sound Task
- 5. Paper Questionnaires (in a counterbalanced order across participants)

Control Group Sequence:

- 1. Sound Task
- 2. DD Task (Money and Food conditions, in a counterbalanced order across participants)
- Time Estimation Tasks (Time Task and Duration Task, in a counterbalanced order across participants)
- 4. Heartbeat Counting Task (HCT)
- 5. Paper Questionnaires (in a counterbalanced order across participants).

2.4 Task Descriptions

2.4.1 Interoceptive Training

The primary objective of the interoceptive training was to investigate whether engaging in a prolonged HeartBeat Counting Task (HCT) developed by Schandry (1981) prior to decision-making tasks would influence participants' DD behaviour. Specifically, the study aimed to determine if participants who performed the HCT task immediately before the DD tasks would exhibit less DD compared to those who performed a control task (Sound Task) first, focusing on exteroceptive perception.

Additionally, before beginning the HCT and Sound task, participants completed pre-task questionnaires to assess their current states of boredom and relaxation on a Likert scale from -5 (Not at all) to 5 (Extremely). Immediately following these tasks, post-task questionnaires were administered to assess their emotional responses, including boredom, relaxation, excitement, and pleasantness, using the same Likert scale.

HeartBeat Counting Task: The HCT Task was designed to engage participants in interoceptive training by having them count their heartbeats. The task aimed to heighten their awareness of internal bodily signals. Participants wore a pulse oximeter on their left index finger to measure the actual heartbeat count. The experimenter took note of the actual number. Participants could not look at the instrument. They were instructed to count the heartbeats they felt in their chest over several sessions. They were also explained that zero would be a plausible answer. The task lasted approximately 9 minutes and consisted of 15 trials with randomised durations ranging from 25 to 55 seconds, the first session serving as a practice trial. Participants had their eyes closed during the task. A beep from the computer signalled the beginning of each trial. At the end of each trial, another beep from the computer signalled them to stop counting and record their counted heartbeats and rate their confidence on a scale from 0 to 10 by typing numbers on the computer keyboard.

This task was also used as a measure of interoceptive accuracy for both groups. The HCT accuracy was calculated by comparing, for each interval, the number of heartbeats reported by the participant with the number of actual heartbeats and then averaging the score of the six intervals obtained using the formula in (Schandry, 1981). The HCT score can, thus, vary between 0 and 1: the closer to 1, the better the interoceptive accuracy.

Sound Task: The Sound Task served as a control training, focusing on exteroceptive rather than interoceptive perception. Participants listened to auditory beeps from the computer, with trial durations matched to those in the HCT task. They recorded the number of sounds they heard per trial and rated their confidence in their count on a scale from 0 to 10 by typing numbers on the computer keyboard. This task allowed us to distinguish the effects of interoceptive training on DD from those of a neutral, non-interoceptive task, by maintaining the experimental session duration equal between groups. The accuracy of this task was determined by the difference between the actual number of sounds and the number reported by the participants

2.4.2 Delay Discounting Tasks

Participants completed two separate DD tasks to evaluate their preference for immediate versus delayed rewards: one involving a food reward and one involving a monetary reward. All rewards used were hypothetical, but participants were encouraged to make their choices as if they were real.

In both tasks, participants chose between a smaller immediate reward and a larger delayed reward. The delays varied and included periods such as 2 days, 2 weeks, 1 month, 3 months, 6 months, and 1 year. At each delay, participants made 5 choices, for a total number of trials = 30. The immediate reward amount was always 20 on the first trial, and then it was adjusted via a staircase procedure based on participants' previous choices to equate the subjective values of immediate and delayed rewards. For example, on the first trial, participants might choose between ≤ 20 now versus ≤ 40 in 3 months, or between 20 cookies now versus 40 cookies in 3 months. In the second trial, participants might choose between 10 units of reward now versus 40 units of reward in 3 months, if they had chosen the delayed reward in the previous trial. Otherwise, in the second trial, participants might choose between 10 units of reward now versus 40 units of reward in 3 months, if they had chosen the immediate reward in the previous trial. The exact procedure is explained in Sellitto et al. 2010. The picture below depicts a choice trial in the money DD task (Sellitto et al., 2010).

Participants made their selections by pressing on the keyboard "A" for the left option and "L" for the right option. The preferred option remained highlighted for 1 second, followed by an inter-trial interval of 1 second. Figure 2 shows the setup for the DD task.





Participants were presented with a choice between a smaller immediate reward and a larger delayed reward. The selection remained visible for one second, illustrating the decision-making process. The depicted trial shows a monetary reward; for the food condition, the rewards were the food items selected in the initial questionnaire (see Figure 1). This picture has been adapted from Sellitto et al. 2010.

2.4.3 Time Estimation tasks

The time estimation tasks assessed participants' perception of various temporal intervals, encompassing duration and time tasks.

Duration Task: Participants estimated the duration between the current day and various future time periods, specifically 2 days, 14 days, 30 days, 90 days, 180 days, and 365 days, which are the same time periods used in the DD tasks. They indicated their subjective feeling of duration on a visual analogue scale from "very short" to "very long" by clicking on the scale with the mouse cursor. Participants were instructed to

carefully read the questions and imagine the time period indicated before marking their response via the mouse cursor. This task provides additional information on how participants perceive the time lengths included in the DD tasks (see Figure 3).





Participants used a visual analogue scale to indicate their perception of the duration between the current day and various future time periods (1 month in the current example). The scale ranged from "very short" to "very long".

Time Task: Participants viewed two visual stimuli sequentially and determined which stimulus seemed to last longer. After the two stimuli appeared, participants were asked to indicate their choice by pressing a key corresponding to the longer-lasting stimulus (either "A" for the first option or "L" for the second option). This task, consisting of 34 trials, provided insights into participants' perception of short and long time intervals based on visual stimuli (see Figure 4).

Figure 4: Time Task interface



Participants viewed two visual stimuli sequentially and determined which stimulus appeared to last longer. The task involved 34 trials.

2.4.4 Questionnaires

After completing all computer-based tasks, participants filled out several questionnaires on paper, each designed to measure different aspects of their global cognitive and emotional functioning. The order of the questionnaires was counterbalanced across participants to control for order effects. Overall, these questionnaires provided a comprehensive profile of each participant's cognitive abilities, body image perceptions, anxiety levels, interoceptive awareness, impulsiveness, and basic demographic information, contributing valuable data for the study's analyses.

Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA): The questionnaire consists of various tasks that evaluate different cognitive domains, including attention, language, abstraction, memory, and orientation to time and place (Santangelo et al., 2015). For example, participants may be asked to recall a list of words or draw a clock showing a specific time. MoCa was administered with pre-recorded voice instructions to ensure standardisation.

Body Dissatisfaction Scale (BDS): This scale is used to measure body dissatisfaction. Participants (i) circled the picture of a body shape that they felt resembled their own body shape and (ii) then they circled the picture of the body shape they desired to have. These pictures are related to specific BMI categories. This method allows participants to express their body image perception visually and is effective in measuring body dissatisfaction (BMI related to the body they think they have minus BMI related to the body they would like to have), providing valuable insights into body image concerns (Mutale et al., 2016).

Body Shape Questionnaire (BSQ): The BSQ is a self-report questionnaire used to assess concerns about body shape. It includes 34 items rated on a Likert scale from 1 (never) to 6 (always) (Cooper et al., 1987). Example items include, "Have you been so worried about your shape that you have been feeling you ought to diet?".

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI-X): The STAI-X, developed by Spielberger et al. (1983), measures both state and trait anxiety through two separate scales, each containing 20 items. State anxiety (STAI-XS) reflects a temporary condition, while trait anxiety (STAI-XT) measures a general tendency to experience anxiety. Items are rated on a 4-point scale. Example items include, "I feel calm" (reverse scored) or "I am tense" for state anxiety, and "I feel secure" (reverse scored) or "I worry too much over something that really doesn't matter" for trait anxiety.

Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA): This questionnaire evaluates different dimensions of interoceptive sensibility, such as noticing, emotional awareness, self-regulation, and body listening (Mehling et al., 2012). Participants rate their agreement with statements on a 6-point Likert scale. Example items include, "I notice how my body changes when I am angry" and "I can return to a state of calm after feeling anxious." The MAIA measures eight dimensions: Noticing, Not Distracting, Not Worrying, Attention Regulation, Emotional Awareness, Self-Regulation, Body Listening, and Trusting.

Eysenck Impulsiveness Scale (EIS): The EIS measures impulsiveness, venturesomeness, and empathy in adults. Participants responded to yes/no questions that gauge their tendency to act on impulse, take risks, and empathise with others (Eysenck et al., 1985).

Demographics Survey: This survey collected basic information about the participants, including age, gender, weight, height, handedness, education level, diet status, and

regular sport activity. Specifically, participants were asked to indicate their gender (F/M/O), age, education level, dominant hand (right/left/ambidextrous), height, weight, whether they were currently on a diet (yes/no), and whether they regularly engaged in sports activities (yes/no).

3.Results

The primary focus of this study was to investigate the impact of interoceptive training on delay discounting (DD) behaviour in money and food. Prior to addressing the main research questions, baseline analyses were conducted to ensure the data met the necessary assumptions. All data analyses were performed using JASP version 0.18.3.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all relevant variables (see Table 1).

Outlier analyses were conducted to identify and exclude any data points (\pm 2SD) that might skew the results. Based on this analysis, participants with extreme BMI values, extreme DD values (Log-*k* scores), and age outliers were excluded from all further analysis whereby these variables were relevant. Specifically, two participants with extreme BMI values, two participants with extreme DD values in the food task, and one participant with an extreme age value were removed.

DD scores were calculated using the *k* parameter. To estimate *k*, we used a non-linear regression and applied to the data the formula SV = A/(1 + kD), where SV is the subjective value, A is the amount of the fix larger reward, and D is the delay in days. The linear regression (via the least-square method, implemented in the Statistica Statsoft software) estimated the *k* parameter that best described participant's choices as a function of time (delay). A higher *k* value means people prefer small immediate rewards over larger delayed ones (Sellitto et al., 2010). The estimated *k* values were log-transformed before being entered in the analyses as they were positively skewed.

3.1 Baseline Analysis

Before examining the main effects of the interoceptive training on decision-making, it was important to ensure that no pre-existing differences between the groups could confound the results. To address this, a series of independent-sample t-tests were conducted to assess whether participants differed on any key variables.

Analyses showed no significant differences between the experimental and control groups across any relevant variables. Specifically, the tests revealed that HCT accuracy (t(44) = -0.40, p = 0.689), Sound accuracy (t(44) = -1.37, p = 0.178), Time accuracy (t(44) = 0.50, p = 0.618), age (t(44) = 0.17, p = 0.865), education (t(44) = 0.42, p = 0.674), and BMI (t(44) = 1.07, p = 0.290) were comparable between groups. Notably, the Levene's test was significant for sound accuracy, suggesting a violation of the equal variance assumption; therefore, Welch's t-test was employed, which also indicated no significant difference (t(23.698) = -1.32, p = 0.200).

Similarly, no significant differences were observed across various psychological and cognitive assessments, including MAIA, EIS, STAI-X, BSQ, and MOCA (all ps > 0.290).

3.2 Main Analysis

Repeated-measure analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to assess the effect of the experimental intervention (HCT) on DD behaviour. Group (experimental or control) was taken as a between-subject factor, while Log-k values of the reward type (money

and food) as within-subject factor. The task order (whether participants performed DD money or DD food first) included as a covariate.

This aimed to explore whether the interoception training (HCT task) would influence participants' DD differently than the control task (expected to have a null effect on DD).

A repeated-measure ANOVA with reward type (money, food) and group (experimental, control) as factors revealed a significant interaction between reward type and group (F(1, 42) = 4.29, p = 0.045, $\eta_p^2 = 0.10$), indicating that the effect of reward type on DD differed significantly between the groups. No significant main effects of reward type (F(1, 42) = 1.50, p = 0.228) or task order (F(1, 42) = 1.09, p = 0.303) were observed. The between-subjects effects analysis showed no significant effects for the group (F(1, 42) = 1.41, p = 0.241, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$), task order, or their interaction (all ps > 0.05).

Post Hoc Tests

Further analyses with Bonferroni corrected post hoc tests revealed:

- Between the control group's discounting of money vs. food, there was a significant difference with food being discounted more steeply than money (mean difference = 0.85, SE = 0.19, t = -4.44, p < .001).
- For the experimental group, no significant difference was observed between the discounting of money and food (mean difference = -0.52, SE = 0.20, t = -2.54, p = 0.090), suggesting a more similar DD behaviour across reward types.

No other significant differences were observed in relation to task order or between other group comparisons (all ps > 0.33). These results suggest that interoceptive training in the experimental group may have moderated the typical pattern of steeper discounting for food compared to money, potentially indicating a more balanced evaluation of immediate versus delayed rewards across different types.

The plot below (Figure 5) shows the mean Log-*k* values for money and food rewards in the two groups. The experimental group shows much closer delay discount rates for both reward types (no significant difference) than those in the control group, with food being discounted here more than money. This means that the interoceptive intervention lowered delay discount rates for food in the experimental group.

Figure 5: The effect of interoception on delay discounting



Note: This figure illustrates the logarithm of the discount parameter (Log-k) for monetary (open circles) and food (filled circles) rewards in experimental and control groups. Higher values (less negative) on the y-axis indicate more impulsive behaviour in decision-making, with the experimental group showing less impulsivity across both types of rewards compared to the control group.

3.3 Secondary Analysis

3.3.1 Delay Discounting Across Different Participant Groups

The independent samples t-test revealed no significant differences between participants on a diet and those not on a diet for Log-k values of food (t(44) = -1.34, p = 0.187) and money (t(44) = -0.76, p = 0.453). Similarly, no significant differences were found between participants who regularly engage in sports and those who do not, with Log-k values for food (t(44) = -0.42, p = 0.680) and money (t(44) = 0.63, p = 0.534). Additionally, the time of day the experiment was conducted (morning vs. afternoon) did not significantly affect the outcomes, as indicated by Log-k values for food (t(44) = -0.87, p = 0.390) and money (t(44) = -0.49, p = 0.624). Lastly, the preference for sweet versus savoury food showed no significant differences in DD for food (t(44) = 0.15, p = 0.886) and money (t(44) = -0.73, p = 0.472).

3.3.2 HCT accuracy

We additionally looked at the interoceptive accuracy more in detail. The accuracy scores of 14 HCT task sessions were divided into three parts (with part I being the average of first four session accuracy scores, part II - next 6 sessions and finally, part III - the last four sessions) to see if there was a change in accuracy over the sessions. The repeated-measure ANOVA revealed no significant differences in the HCT task accuracy across three parts: F(2, 90) = 0.02, p = 0.978, indicating consistent accuracy

throughout the task. The mean accuracy was 0.54 (SD = 0.23) for part I, 0.53 (SD = 0.24) for part II, and 0.54 (SD = 0.26) for part III.

However, there were significant differences in HCT confidence ratings (how accurate participants thought they were in each session): F(2, 90) = 3.95, p = 0.023. Confidence significantly increased from the first part (M = 4.63, SD = 2.12) to the second part (M = 5.12, SD = 2.31), then insignificantly decreased in HCT-III (M = 4.93, SD = 2.49).

3.3.3 Delay discounting and interoceptive sensibility

We checked whether there was any correlation between DD and the MAIA subscales. Participants with higher DD for money (Log-*k* money) also showed lower scores in the "trust" subscale (r = -0.31, p = 0.039), which refers to experience of one's body as safe and trustworthy. However we had no a priori hypothesis on this.

3.3.4 HCT and Sound tasks

We further looked into the two tasks, the experimental training and the control training. HCT. People who found the HCT task exciting also showed to be more relaxed after the task compared to their relaxation levels before the task (r = 0.40, p = 0.031).

Heartbeat counting accuracy positively correlated with confidence in the heartbeat task (r = 0.44, p = 0.003), but also with emotional awareness (r = 0.35, p = 0.016) and body listening (r = 0.328, p = 0.026).

Confidence in heartbeat counting positively correlated with MAIA scores: noticing (r = 0.34, p = 0.020), and body listening (r = 0.31, p = 0.039).

Control task. Concerning the Sound task, participants who reported to be more relaxed after the sound task compared to before had lower sound task accuracy (r = -0.42, p = 0.022).

3.3.5 BMI, body shape concerns and body dissatisfaction

Participants' BMI was significantly related to various relevant factors. It positively correlated with perceived BMI (r = 0.78, p < .001) meaning that participants tended to line up on the BDS scale. Additionally, BMI was correlated with body shape concerns (BSQ, r = 0.37, p = 0.012).

Higher ideal BMI scores (the BMI corresponding to selected body shape they wanted to have from BDS scale) was connected with self-regulation (r = 0.35, p = 0.017), trusting scores in MAIA questionnaire (r = 0.37, p = 0.012), and negatively correlated with body shape concerns (BSQ, r = -0.40, p = 0.007) and trait anxiety (r = -0.45, p = 0.002), meaning that participants whose had higher ideal BMI had less concerns on their body shape and less anxiety in general.

Similarly, participants with higher scores in BDS scale (whose ideal BMI was higher than their perceived BMI) had lower scores on body shape concerns questionnaire (r = -0.62, p < .001) and higher scores in not distracting (MAIA, r = 0.38, p = 0.008).

Negative correlations were found with BSQ scores and parts of the interoception questionnaire: not distracting (r = -0.40, p = 0.006) and trust (r = -0.49, p < .001).

4. Discussion

4.1 Overview of Study Findings

Choosing between immediate gratification and future benefits is a daily challenge, requiring a nuanced balance between short-term appeal and long-term advantages. Our study explored the impact of interoceptive attention, specifically through focusing on heartbeat, on decision-making processes concerning intertemporal choices involving hypothetical monetary and food rewards.

To test this, participants were divided into two groups. One group engaged in interoceptive training by concentrating on their internal bodily sensations, specifically their heartbeat while the other group participated in exteroceptive training by attending to external auditory stimuli, specifically computer-generated tones, before making decisions. The experimental and the control groups did not differ on key variables such as interoceptive accuracy and sensitivity, exteroception accuracy, hunger levels, time perception, and impulsivity. This parity in baseline measures ensured that any observed differences in delay discounting (DD) behaviour could be directly attributable to the intervention. Indeed, unlike the control group, which displayed typically higher discount rates for food compared to money, the experimental group showed more uniform discount rates between the two reward types, particularly evidencing a reduced discount

rate for food. This adjustment could be interpreted that attention to internal states may effectively moderate the usually high propensity to discount future edible rewards.

4.2 Impact of Interoceptive Training on Decision-Making

Interoceptive training typically enhances sensitivity to internal states like heart rate and stomach sensations, fostering more reflective decision-making across different contexts. In our study, we observed that participants who focused on their heartbeat before decision-making demonstrated more consistent decision-making across different types of rewards. Unlike the control group, which showed a higher tendency to discount food rewards quickly, those trained showed even consideration for both types of rewards. This suggests that interoceptive training could potentially recalibrate how people value immediate and delayed rewards, possibly by enhancing bodily awareness (Dunn et al., 2010; Garfinkel et al., 2015; Werner et al., 2009).

Research indicates that non-monetary outcomes like food are typically devalued more steeply than monetary rewards, highlighting the strong influence of physiological states on reward valuation (Odum et al., 2020). By aligning the discount rates for immediate, consumable rewards more closely with those for secondary rewards, interoceptive training could help manage impulsive behaviours, particularly those related to food consumption (Odum & Rainaud, 2003) as primary rewards like food are directly impacted by physiological states. There is a distinction between how the brain processes different rewards, while immediate rewards trigger fast, emotion-driven

responses, delayed rewards require more thoughtful, strategic thinking (McClure et al., 2007).

Engaging in the Heartbeat Counting Task likely enhances participants' internal state awareness, leading to better-informed decision-making, particularly in managing impulsive urges and in making healthier choices that extend beyond immediate taste pleasures (Sugawara et al., 2020; Craig, 2002).

By focusing on internal states, interventions like HCT can reduce the usual preference for immediate rewards, which is a common challenge in various clinical and behavioural settings (Herman and Stanton, 2022).

4.3 Theoretical Foundations of Interoceptive Awareness

The outcomes of our study align with key theories that explore how bodily awareness shapes emotional and motivational states. For instance, Damasio's somatic marker hypothesis proposes that emotional processes guide (or bias) behaviour, particularly decision-making, in response to certain stimuli (Damasio, 1994). Similarly, Thayer and Lane's neurovisceral integration model suggests that a well-regulated autonomic nervous system contributes to optimal social and adaptive behaviours by affecting decision-making (Thayer & Lane, 2000). Furthermore, research by Craig on the neurobiological foundations of interoceptive awareness highlights how awareness of physical states may influence cognitive processing and decision-making (Craig, 2002), while Critchley's work extends this by examining how heart-based viscerosensory

signalling can affect the perception and decision-making process (Critchley, 2004). Collectively, these theories suggest a profound integration of sensory and emotional information, which supports the potential of interoceptive training to recalibrate how individuals assess and respond to rewards.

4.4 Methodological Approaches in Interoceptive Training

In contrast to other interoceptive training studies that often employ biofeedback to enhance participants' accuracy, our study employs a distinctive approach by not providing direct feedback. For example, the study by Sugawara et al. (2020) used biofeedback to provide participants with immediate feedback on their performance, Although this significantly improved interoceptive accuracy, it did not yield notable changes in decision-making.

Another study (Rae et al., 2019) investigated the impact of cardiac cues on decision-making using a modified Go/NoGo task. While they did not use biofeedback, the emphasis was on how specific cardiac phases influenced decisions. They found that higher interoceptive awareness led participants to withhold actions. This aligns with our methodological emphasis on intrinsic awareness rather than induced responses through explicit feedback.

Additionally, Price and Hooven (2018) introduced Mindful Awareness in Body-oriented Therapy, which like our study, does not rely on feedback mechanisms but instead fosters a deepened bodily awareness through mindfulness practices to enhance

decision-making and emotional regulation. These methodological distinctions highlight the possible diverse approaches within interoceptive training research.

4.5 Implications

The interaction of various brain regions in responding to immediate versus delayed rewards is complex. Research shows that limbic areas involved in emotional processing exhibit increased activity in response to immediate rewards, whether primary (like food) or secondary (like money), while areas associated with deliberative thinking, such as the lateral prefrontal and parietal cortex, show a more consistent response across different decision types, indicating a reduced sensitivity to reward immediacy (McClure et al., 2007). Furthermore, studies suggest that the ability to delay gratification might not correlate with lower impulsivity in other decision-making areas such as risk tolerance, indicating that impulsivity in DD might not universally apply across different decision-making scenarios (Holt et al., 2003). Integrating insights from the Competing Neurobehavioral Decision Systems theory offers further understanding of how the brain manages these decisions. It describes two neural systems: one that pursues immediate rewards and another that considers longer-term benefits and controls impulsive actions (McClure et al., 2007). This framework helps explain the neural foundations of decision-making and the valuation of immediate versus delayed rewards.

Additional insights from research into metabolic functions reveal how immediate physiological needs significantly influence the steep discounting of primary rewards that

satisfy metabolic demands, in contrast to secondary rewards that lack immediate physiological benefits (Charlton & Fantino, 2008).

These insights into the neural dynamics and metabolic influences on decision-making can explain why interventions like interoceptive training have an impact on our choices. By enhancing awareness of internal states, these trainings may recalibrate the neural pathways that weigh immediate against delayed gratifications. This shift could be particularly influential in decisions where physiological cues are direct factors, such as hunger influencing food choices.

In practical terms, participants in our study who were more attuned to their inner states due to interoceptive training could bypass immediate gratifications in favour of long-term health benefits. For example, individuals attuned to their inner states might bypass unhealthy snacks not just as a healthier choice but as a strategic decision aimed at achieving more substantial, long-term rewards like improved health. This suggests that enhancing bodily awareness can lead to more considered decisions, aligning with findings from Barrett and Bar (2009) who discussed the role of emotional salience in decision-making connected with sensory perception. This awareness potentially shifts how delayed rewards are valued.

These insights collectively advocate for the potential of interoceptive training to influence decision-making processes, specifically in contexts where immediate gratifications are prevalent.

4.6 Limitations

One notable limitation in our study stems from the use of hypothetical instead of real rewards to explore DD processes. Although this is a practical method for studying decision-making, it introduces potential biases that could affect the results as hypothetical rewards may be discounted at lower rates compared to actual rewards (Bickel et al., 1999). This suggests a possible underestimation of true discounting behaviour and raises concerns similar to those associated with self-report measures, where responses might not fully capture behaviours in real-life situations.

Additionally, the sample size and diversity may limit the generalizability of our findings. As the participants were university students, the results might not accurately represent broader population dynamics, including variations in socioeconomic status. This could influence the applicability of the findings to other groups, necessitating further research with a more varied demographic.

5. Conclusion

Given the broad impact of delay discounting on various aspects of personal and public health, it is important to investigate possible interventions to lower discount rate in intertemporal choices. This study examined whether an interoceptive training, consisting of focusing on the heartbeat, could have an effect on delay discounting on hypothetical monetary and edible rewards.

Our results indicate the possibility that interoceptive attention may enhance sensitivity to internal cues, potentially leading to more consistent decision-making across different reward types, as participants trained to focus on their internal states appeared to have a more balanced valuation in contrast to the control group's rapid discounting of food rewards. This suggests that by improving bodily awareness, an interoceptive training might help recalibrate how individuals value both immediate and future benefits, possibly leading to healthier decision-making patterns, particularly concerning food.

By enhancing awareness of internal states, we speculate that this training may adjust the neural pathways that balance immediate and future gratifications. Such adjustments might be particularly noticeable in decisions directly influenced by physiological cues, such as hunger impacting food choices. However, these suggestions must be taken cautiously, as we did not investigate this issue from the neuroimaging point of view. It is interesting to consider whether the benefits of interoceptive training might persist in the long-term, offering a sustainable approach to prioritising future rewards over immediate temptations. These findings suggest directions for further research and practical applications aimed at refining decision-making behaviours, especially given the complexities of impulsivity and its varied manifestations across different decision-making scenarios.

Furthermore, although there were no improvements in accuracy over the 14-session Heartbeat Counting Task it would be interesting to explore whether longer or more frequent training sessions without feedback might improve accuracy.

In conclusion these findings show a potential of interoception-focused interventions for improving delay discounting patterns.

References

- Ainslie, G. (1975). Specious reward: A behavioral theory of impulsiveness and impulse control. *Psychological Bulletin*, 82(4), 463–496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076860</u>
- Amlung, M., Petker, T., Jackson, J., Balodis, I., & MacKillop, J. (2016). Steep discounting of delayed monetary and food rewards in obesity: A meta-analysis.
 Psychological Medicine, 46(11), Article 11.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716000866
- Amlung, M., Vedelago, L., Acker, J., Balodis, I., & MacKillop, J. (2017). Steep delay discounting and addictive behaviour: A meta-analysis of continuous associations: Delay discounting and addiction. *Addiction*, *112*(1), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13535
- Anokhin, A. P., Golosheykin, S., Grant, J. D., & Heath, A. C. (2011). Heritability of Delay Discounting in Adolescence: A Longitudinal Twin Study. *Behavior Genetics*, 41(2), 175–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10519-010-9384-7</u>
- Appelhans, B. M., Woolf, K., Pagoto, S. L., Schneider, K. L., Whited, M. C., & Liebman, R. (2011). Inhibiting Food Reward: Delay Discounting, Food Reward

Sensitivity, and Palatable Food Intake in Overweight and Obese Women. *Obesity*, *19*(11), 2175–2182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2011.57</u>

- Audrain-McGovern, J., Rodriguez, D., Epstein, L. H., Cuevas, J., Rodgers, K., & Wileyto, E. P. (2009). Does delay discounting play an etiological role in smoking or is it a consequence of smoking? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *103*(3), 99–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.12.019</u>
- Barrett, L. F., & Bar, M. (2009). See it with feeling: Affective predictions during object perception. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1521), 1325–1334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0312</u>
- Bechara, A., Damasio, H., Tranel, D., & Damasio, A. R. (1997). Deciding Advantageously Before Knowing the Advantageous Strategy. *Science*, 275(5304), Article 5304. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2892390</u>
- Bickel, W. K., Odum, A. L., & Madden, G. J. (1999). Impulsivity and cigarette smoking: Delay discounting in current, never, and ex-smokers:
 Psychopharmacology. *Psychopharmacology*, *146*(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00005490
- Charlton, S. R., & Fantino, E. (2008). Commodity specific rates of temporal discounting: Does metabolic function underlie differences in rates of discounting? *Behavioural Processes*, 77(3), Article 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2007.08.002</u>

- Churchwell, J. C., & Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2013). Age-related changes in insula cortical thickness and impulsivity: Significance for emotional development and decision-making. *DEVELOPMENTAL COGNITIVE NEUROSCIENCE*, 6, 80–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2013.07.001</u>
- Cooper, P. J., Taylor, M. J., Cooper, Z., & Fairbum, C. G. (1987). The development and validation of the body shape questionnaire. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 6(4), 485–494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(198707)6:4<485::AID-EAT2260060405>3.0.</u> <u>CO:2-O</u>
- Couto, B., Salles, A., Sedeño, L., Peradejordi, M., Barttfeld, P., Canales-Johnson,
 A., Dos Santos, Y. V., Huepe, D., Bekinschtein, T., Sigman, M., Favaloro, R.,
 Manes, F., & Ibanez, A. (2014). The man who feels two hearts: The different
 pathways of interoception. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(9),
 Article 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nst108</u>
- Craig, A. D. (2002). How do you feel? Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*(8), Article 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn894</u>
- Craig, A. D. (2009). How do you feel--now? The anterior insula and human awareness: Nature Reviews Neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2555</u>

- Critchley, H. D., & Garfinkel, S. N. (2015). Interactions between visceral afferent signaling and stimulus processing. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00286</u>
- Critchley, H. D., & Garfinkel, S. N. (2017). Interoception and emotion. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *17*, 7–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.04.020</u>
- Critchley, H. D., Wiens, S., Rotshtein, P., Öhman, A., & Dolan, R. J. (2004). Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(2), 189–195. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1176
- Damasio, A. R. (1994). Descartes' Error and the Future of Human Life. *Scientific American*, 271(4), Article 4. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/24942888</u>
- Desmedt, O., Luminet, O., Maurage, P., & Corneille, O. (2023). Discrepancies in the Definition and Measurement of Human Interoception: A Comprehensive Discussion and Suggested Ways Forward. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 17456916231191537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17456916231191537</u>
- Dixon, M. R., Jacobs, E. A., & Sanders, S. (2006). Contextual Control of Delay Discounting by Pathological Gamblers. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 39(4), Article 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.2006.173-05</u>
- Dunn, B. D., Galton, H. C., Morgan, R., Evans, D., Oliver, C., Meyer, M., Cusack,R., Lawrence, A. D., & Dalgleish, T. (2010). Listening to Your Heart: HowInteroception Shapes Emotion Experience and Intuitive Decision Making.

 Psychological
 Science,
 21(12),
 1835–1844.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797610389191

- Estle, S. J., Green, L., Myerson, J., & Holt, D. D. (2007). Discounting of Monetary and Directly Consumable Rewards. *Psychological Science*, *18*(1), 58–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01849.x</u>
- Eysenck, S. B. G., Pearson, P. R., Easting, G., & Allsopp, J. F. (1985). Age norms for impulsiveness, venturesomeness and empathy in adults. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6(5), 613–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(85)90011-X
- Frost, R., & McNaughton, N. (2017). The neural basis of delay discounting: A review and preliminary model. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 79, 48–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.04.022</u>
- Garfinkel, S. N., Seth, A. K., Barrett, A. B., Suzuki, K., & Critchley, H. D. (2015).
 Knowing your own heart: Distinguishing interoceptive accuracy from interoceptive awareness. *Biological Psychology*, *104*, 65–74.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.11.004
- Green, L., & Myerson, J. (2004). A Discounting Framework for Choice With Delayed and Probabilistic Rewards: Psychological Bulletin. *Psychological Bulletin*, *130*(5), Article 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.5.769</u>

- Halcomb, M. E., Dzemidzic, M., Shen, Y. I., Lin, Z., Butcher, T. J., Yoder, K. K., & Oberlin, B. (2022). Delay discounting and alcohol consumption correlate with dorsal anterior insula activation during choice in nontreatment-seeking heavy drinkers. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *46*(8), Article 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.14888</u>
- Herman, A. M., Critchley, H. D., & Duka, T. (2018a). Risk-Taking and Impulsivity: The Role of Mood States and Interoception. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01625</u>
- Herman, A. M., Critchley, H. D., & Duka, T. (2018b). The role of emotions and physiological arousal in modulating impulsive behaviour. *Biological Psychology*, *133*, 30–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.01.014</u>
- Herman, A. M., & Stanton, T. R. (2022). Delay and Effort-Based Discounting, and the Role of Bodily Awareness, In People Experiencing Long-Term Pain: A Cross-Sectional Study. *The Journal of Pain*, 23(3), Article 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2021.10.001</u>
- Holt, D. D., Green, L., & Myerson, J. (2003). Is discounting impulsive?: Evidence from temporal and probability discounting in gambling and non-gambling college students. *Behavioural Processes*, 64(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-6357(03)00141-4

- Lin, H., & Epstein, L. H. (2014). Living in the moment: Effects of time perspective and emotional valence of episodic thinking on delay discounting. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *128*(1), 12–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035705</u>
- Luhmann, C. C. (2009). Temporal decision-making: Insights from cognitive neuroscience. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.08.039.2009</u>
- MacKillop, J., Amlung, M. T., Few, L. R., Ray, L. A., Sweet, L. H., & Munafò, M. R. (2011). Delayed reward discounting and addictive behavior: A meta-analysis. *Psychopharmacology*, 216(3), 305–321.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2229-0
- Mathôt, S., Schreij, D., & Theeuwes, J. (2012). OpenSesame: An open-source, graphical experiment builder for the social sciences. *Behavior Research Methods, 44(2), 314-324. Doi:10.3758/s13428-011-0168-7.* (n.d.). [Computer software].
- McClure, S. M., Ericson, K. M., Laibson, D. I., Loewenstein, G., & Cohen, J. D. (2007). Time Discounting for Primary Rewards. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(21), Article 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4246-06.2007</u>
- Mehling, W. E., Price, C., Daubenmier, J. J., Acree, M., Bartmess, E., & Stewart, A. (2012). The Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA).
 PLOS ONE, 7(11), Article 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048230</u>

- Myerson, J., Green, L., Scott Hanson, J., Holt, D. D., & Estle, S. J. (2003). Discounting delayed and probabilistic rewards: Processes and traits. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 24(5), 619–635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4870(03)00005-9</u>
- Mutale, G. J., Dunn, A. K., Stiller, J., & Larkin, R. F. (2016). Development of a Body
 Dissatisfaction Scale assessment tool. *The New School Psychology Bulletin*, *13*(2), Article 2. <u>http://nspb.net/index.php/nspb/article/view/249</u>
- Odum, A. L., & Rainaud, C. P. (2003). Discounting of delayed hypothetical money, alcohol, and food. *Behavioural Processes*, *64*(3), 305–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-6357(03)00145-1</u>
- Odum, A. L., Baumann, A. A. L., & Rimington, D. D. (2006). Discounting of delayed hypothetical money and food: Effects of amount. *Behavioural Processes*, *73*(3), 278–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2006.06.008
- Odum, A. L., Becker, R. J., Haynes, J. M., Galizio, A., Frye, C. C. J., Downey, H.,
 Friedel, J. E., & Perez, D. M. (2020). Delay discounting of different outcomes:
 Review and theory. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, *113*(3),
 Article 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jeab.589</u>
- Paulus, M. P., & Stewart, J. L. (2014). Interoception and drug addiction. *Neuropharmacology*, 76, 342–350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.07.002</u>

- Peters, J., & Büchel, C. (2011). The neural mechanisms of inter-temporal decision-making: Understanding variability. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15, 227–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.03.002</u>
- Pollatos, O., Mönkemöller, K., Groppe, K., & Elsner, B. (2023). Interoceptive accuracy is associated with benefits in decision making in children. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 1070037. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1070037
- Price, C. J., & Hooven, C. (2018). Interoceptive Awareness Skills for Emotion
 Regulation: Theory and Approach of Mindful Awareness in Body-Oriented
 Therapy (MABT). *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyq.2018.00798
- Rae, C., Ahmad, A., Larsson, D. E. O., Silva, M., Gould Van Praag, C. D., Garfinkel,
 S., & Critchley, Hu. (2019). *Impact of cardiac interoception cues on voluntary decisions to make or withhold action in an intentional inhibition task*.
 https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/xhzmc
- Rung, J. M., & Madden, G. J. (2018). Experimental reductions of delay discounting and impulsive choice: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 147(9), 1349–1381. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000462
- Santangelo, G., Siciliano, M., Pedone, R., Vitale, C., Falco, F., Bisogno, R., Siano, P., Barone, P., Grossi, D., Santangelo, F., & Trojano, L. (2015). Normative data

for the Montreal Cognitive Assessment in an Italian population sample. *Neurological Sciences: Official Journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 36(4), 585–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-014-1995-y</u>

- Schandry, R. (1981). Heart Beat Perception and Emotional Experience. *Psychophysiology*, *18*(4), Article 4.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1981.tb02486.x
- Schmitt, C. M., & Schoen, S. (2022). Interoception: A Multi-Sensory Foundation of Participation in Daily Life. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.875200</u>
- Sellitto, M., Ciaramelli, E., Mattioli, F., & di Pellegrino, G. (2016). Reduced Sensitivity to Sooner Reward During Intertemporal Decision-Making Following Insula Damage in Humans. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9.
- Sellitto, M., Ciaramelli, E., & Pellegrino, G. di. (2010). Myopic Discounting of Future Rewards after Medial Orbitofrontal Damage in Humans. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(49), Article 49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2516-10.2010</u>
- Sherrington, S. C. S. (1906). *The Integrative Action of the Nervous System*. Yale University Press.

- Spielberger, C. D. (1983). Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI). PaloAlto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Sugawara, A. (2020). Effects of interoceptive training on decision making, anxiety, and somatic symptoms.
- Thayer, J. F., & Lane, R. D. (2000). A model of neurovisceral integration in emotion regulation and dysregulation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 61(3), 201–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00338-4</u>
- Tice, D. M., Bratslavsky, E., & Baumeister, R. F. (2001). Emotional distress regulation takes precedence over impulse control: If you feel bad, do it! *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 80(1), 53–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.80.1.53</u>
- Tsakiris, M., & Critchley, H. (2016). Introduction: Interoception beyond homeostasis: affect, cognition and mental health. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, *371*(1708), Article 1708. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26120756</u>
- Wang, Q., Wang, Y., Wang, P., Peng, M., Zhang, M., Zhu, Y., Wei, S., Chen, C., Chen, X., Luo, S., & Bai, X. (2021). Neural representations of the amount and the delay time of reward in intertemporal decision making. *Human Brain Mapping*, 42(11), Article 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.25445</u>

- Wang, R. L., & Chang, R. B. (2024). The Coding Logic of Interoception. Annual Review of Physiology, 86(Volume 86, 2024), Article Volume 86, 2024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-042222-023455</u>
- Wang, X., Wu, Q., Egan, L., Gu, X., Liu, P., Gu, H., Yang, Y., Luo, J., Wu, Y., Gao,
 Z., & Fan, J. (2019). Anterior insular cortex plays a critical role in interoceptive attention. *eLife*, *8*, e42265. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.42265</u>
- Werner, N. S., Jung, K., Duschek, S., & Schandry, R. (2009). Enhanced cardiac perception is associated with benefits in decision-making. *Psychophysiology*, *46*(6), Article 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2009.00855.x</u>
- Yoon, J. H., Higgins, S. T., Heil, S. H., Sugarbaker, R. J., Thomas, C. S., & Badger, G. J. (2007). Delay discounting predicts postpartum relapse to cigarette smoking among pregnant women. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 15(2), 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.15.2.186